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PURPOSE, SCOPE AND AUTHORITY
Purpose
The purpose of this investigation is to determine if Waste Management of Washington, Inc. (Waste Management) violated commission laws and rules when it failed to provide scheduled service to more than 135,000 customers during a labor strike that occurred between July 25 and Aug. 2, 2012. Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 81.28.080 requires solid waste collection companies to follow the rules in their tariff; Waste Management’s tariff does not allow service disruptions due to labor strikes.

Scope
The scope of this investigation is limited to the labor strike that occurred between July 25 and Aug. 2, 2012.

Authority
Staff undertakes this investigation pursuant to RCW 81.04.070. WAC 480-70-216 authorizes the commission to administer and enforce laws and rules relating to solid waste collection companies. 

Staff
Rayne Pearson, Consumer Protection Manager
(360) 664-1103
rpearson@utc.wa.gov

Betty Young, Transportation Safety Investigator[footnoteRef:1] [1:  Betty Young prepared the safety investigation portion of this report, which appears on pages 12-13.] 

(360) 664-1202
byoung@utc.wa.gov


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Staff conducted this investigation to evaluate the impact of Waste Management’s missed solid waste collection services during the labor strike that occurred between July 25 and Aug. 2, 2012. 

Beginning the first day of the strike, commission staff communicated daily with the company regarding the status of negotiations and service restoration. On July 31, 2012, commission staff notified the company that it would be required to provide day-by-day customer service data once the strike ended. Waste Management did not provide staff with information specific to commission-regulated service until Aug. 2.

On Aug. 24, the commission issued a data request requiring the company to produce detailed documentation related to missed pickups during the strike. On Oct. 1, the company provided an incomplete response. In its response, the company claimed that “WMW does not track which specific customers have been serviced ... This information is not reasonably available to WMW.” The company’s refusal to provide customer-specific missed pickup data obstructed staff’s ability to calculate an accurate number of violations, which resulted in staff finding fewer violations than it would have had all of the required information been provided. 

Staff found the company’s response insufficient, and therefore in violation of RCW 81.04.380, which requires regulated companies to comply with commission directives. Based on the limited data provided, staff estimated that Waste Management missed at least 278,222 pickups between July 25 and Aug. 2, 2012, resulting in at least 278,222 violations of RCW 81.28.080. Due to the inadequate data, only 208,567 of the violations could be substantiated. 

The company’s response also included a “Labor Disruption Contingency Plan,” detailing the company’s commitment to using replacement drivers during labor disputes to ensure an adequate level of service. Other data provided by the company demonstrated, however, that the company’s actual performance during the strike failed to match the description outlined in its plan. Accordingly, staff found that Waste Management violated RCW 81.28.010 and .020 on each day of the strike. Staff also found that Waste Management disproportionately allocated its replacement workforce to contract-city service areas to the detriment of its customers in commission-regulated areas, which violates RCW 81.28.190.

Between Aug. 3 and Oct. 17, 2012, consumer protection complaint staff received 136 complaints from Waste Management customers who did not receive service during the strike. Staff recorded 323 violations of WAC 480-70-236 for 323 missed pickups. Additionally, staff recorded seven violations of WAC 480-70-386(b)(i) for a late response to a consumer complaint. 

Staff conducted an investigation related to the replacement drivers used during the strike, and found the following violations of Title 18 CFR: 
· For one driver, Waste Management failed to prepare a driver vehicle inspection report, which violated CFR Part 396.11. 
· For one driver, Waste Management failed to ensure that the online employment application completed by the employee met federal requirements, which violated CFR Part 391.21. 
· For eight drivers, Waste Management failed to obtain copies of driving records within 30 days of hire, which violated CFR Part 391.23(b). 
· For two drivers, Waste Management failed to maintain copies of motor vehicle records for the preceding 12 months, which violated CFR Part 391.25(c)(1). 
· For three drivers, Waste Management failed to maintain annual driving record reviews, which violated CFR Part 391.25(c)(2). 
· For three drivers, Waste Management failed to maintain annual certifications of violations of motor vehicle traffic laws and ordinances, which violated CFR Part 391.27. 

Recommendation
Staff recommends the commission issue a formal complaint and assess a total penalty of up to $2,146,600, for the following violations:

· Up to $1,000 for each of the 30 violations of RCW 81.04.380, related to the company’s incomplete response to the commission’s data request, for a total potential penalty of $30,000.
· Up to $1,000 for each of the nine violations of RCW 81.28.010, related to the company’s failure to maintain facilities and equipment during the strike sufficient to provide service as required, for a total potential penalty of $9,000.
· Up to $1,000 for each of the nine violations of RCW 81.28.020, related to the company’s failure to provide sufficient service during the strike, for a total potential penalty of $9,000.
· Up to $1,000 for each of the nine violations of RCW 81.28.190, related to the unreasonable preference given to city-contract service areas during the strike, for a total potential penalty of $9,000.
· $10 for each of the 208,567 violations of RCW 81.28.080, related to missed pickups found in connection with staff’s data request, for a total penalty of $2,085,670.
· $10 for each of the 323 violations of RCW 81.28.080, related to missed pickups found in connection with consumer complaints, for a total penalty of $3,230.
· $100 for each of the seven violations of WAC 480-70-386(b)(i), related to the company’s late response to consumer complaint 115667, for a total penalty of $700.

Staff also recommends that Waste Management closely review the safety violations cited in this report, which constitute technical assistance. Future violations will result in additional enforcement action, including penalties. 


BACKGROUND

Company Information
Waste Management of Washington, Inc. is a for-profit corporation. Duane Woods is president, and Don Carpenter, Cherie Rice, Linda Smith, and Greg Robertson each hold the title of Vice President. 

Waste Management provides solid waste collection services in King and Snohomish counties under a certificate of public convenience and necessity granted by the commission, 
G-237, as follows:

· d/b/a Waste Management South Sound (King County) under Tariff No. 22
· d/b/a Waste Management Seattle (King County) under Tariff No. 22
· d/b/a Waste Management Sno-King (King County) under Tariff No. 15
· d/b/a Waste Management Northwest (Snohomish County) under Tariff No. 17

Waste Management collected $122,272,706 in regulated revenue statewide in 2011, and serves approximately 135,000 residential and commercial solid waste collection customers in King and Snohomish counties.
  
Investigation
This investigation was prompted by a labor strike that occurred between July 25 and Aug. 2, 2012.



















INVESTIGATION

Waste Management serves approximately 130,000 residential customers and 5,000 commercial customers in commission-regulated areas of King and Snohomish counties. 

On July 25, 2012, at 2:30 p.m., Waste Management notified commission staff that drivers represented by Teamsters Local 117 had called a strike that morning, and drivers represented by Teamsters Local 174 were honoring the picket lines.[footnoteRef:2] Although staff repeatedly asked the company for information regarding replacement drivers, missed service, and service restoration, email status updates provided by the company on July 27, 29, and 30 failed to provide any details related to service interruptions in commission-regulated areas.[footnoteRef:3] [2:  Drivers represented by Teamsters Local 117 collect recyclables and food and yard waste; drivers represented by Teamsters Local 174 collect garbage.]  [3:  A copy of a commission staff document entitled “Waste Management Strike Timeline,” which details communications between staff and the company, is attached as Appendix A.] 


On July 31, 2012, commission staff notified Waste Management that it would be required to provide day-by-day customer service data once the strike was over. On Aug. 2, staff received the first communication from the company regarding commission-regulated service. That same day, the commission sent a letter informing the company that a formal investigation had been opened, and requiring the company to attend the commission’s public meeting on Aug. 9 in Woodinville to discuss its strike response strategy and data related to missed service.[footnoteRef:4] The company failed to provide any of the requested documentation at the public meeting. [4:  A copy of the Aug. 9, 2012, letter to Waste Management is attached as Appendix B.] 


Data Request

On Aug. 24, 2012, staff issued a comprehensive data request to Waste Management requiring missed pickup information for each customer, each day, from the day the strike began until all services missed during and subsequent to the strike were collected. Staff also requested detailed information regarding the company’s use of replacement drivers and its implementation of its labor dispute contingency plan during the strike.[footnoteRef:5] Staff requested a response by Sept. 24, 2012. [5:  A copy of the Aug. 24, 2012, data request is attached as Appendix C.] 


Staff met with the company on Sept. 7 to discuss the company’s response to the data request. During that meeting, the company represented that it may not be able to provide the requested data because the company had no record of which customers missed scheduled pickups during the strike. The company subsequently requested an extension for responding to the data request until Oct. 1, 2012. On Oct. 1, the company provided an incomplete response.[footnoteRef:6] In its response, the company claimed that “WMW does not track which specific customers have been serviced. As a result, WMW respectfully objects to the data requests seeking missed collection information on a customer-specific basis. This information is not reasonably available to WMW.”  [6:  A copy of the Oct. 1, 2012, response to staff’s data request is attached as Appendix D.] 


The company’s response, however, also included a document entitled “Waste Management’s 2012 Puget Sound Labor Disruption Contingency Plan” addressing the use of pre-programmed GPS units with “customer, transfer station, and recycling facility locations for each route.” The information contained in the contingency plan directly contradicts the company’s claim that customer-specific data was not available. 

The company’s refusal to provide customer-specific data regarding missed pickups during the strike obstructed staff’s ability to calculate an accurate number of violations, which resulted in staff finding substantially fewer violations than it would have had all of the requested information been provided. The methodology staff used to calculate missed pickups relied on actual versus average tonnage collected, which was inevitably skewed by those customers who set out additional waste once normal service resumed. For example, if a route was collected after one missed pickup, the amount of waste set out was likely twice the normal amount, which would artificially inflate the amount of tonnage collected in relation to average tonnage for that route. Staff chose the most conservative approach to calculate violations for days where missed pickups were estimated rather than speculating about how many customers set out additional waste versus how many customers chose to dispose of uncollected waste in other ways.

In addition, the company’s formal response to the commission’s questions regarding its use of replacement drivers differed substantially from the statements made by its representative at the commission’s open meeting on October 25, 2012, discussed in detail below. 

Findings
Staff finds the company’s response was both insufficient and inaccurate, and therefore in violation of RCW 81.04.380. Staff finds that the company violated RCW 81.04.380 for 30 days, between October 1 and October 31, 2012, by failing to provide the information staff required the company to produce. Although the day count for violations could be considerably longer (and, by law, could continue until the company provides the required information), staff believes that 30 days is reasonably proportionate given the ramifications of the violations. It is sufficiently punitive, but not unduly harsh. 

Strike Management

2012 Strike Background
During the company’s 2010 strike, Waste Management relied on the inclement weather provision of its tariff to address missed pickups, allowing customers to leave out waste that accumulated during the strike at no additional cost. Staff did not assess penalties, but cautioned the company that it would not support the company’s reliance on its inclement weather provision going forward. 
On May 18, 2012, the commission sent a technical assistance letter to all solid waste companies instructing them to revise their tariffs to address strike-related service disruptions, and notifying them that they may no longer rely on inclement weather tariff provisions during such disruptions.[footnoteRef:7] Waste Management did not file a tariff revision to address strike-related service disruptions until June 6, 2012, requesting an Aug. 1 effective date. The strike commenced before the commission could act on the company’s request. [7:  A copy of the May 18, 2012, letter to regulated solid waste carriers is attached as Appendix E.] 

The commission provided ample notice and opportunity for Waste Management to revise its tariff to address labor-related service disruptions. The company ignored this guidance until the most recent strike was imminent.
Contingency Plan
In response to staff’s data request regarding the company’s strike contingency plan, Waste Management produced a document entitled “Waste Management’s 2012 Puget Sound Labor Disruption Contingency Plan” addressing the use of a replacement labor force (known as the “Green Team”), the use of pre-programmed GPS units with “customer, transfer station, and recycling facility locations for each route,” a temporary collection schedule, and a public education component. The company shared its plan with staff prior to the strike as a demonstration of the company’s commitment to managing the strike and mitigating customer impact. On July 26, 2012, Waste Management informed commission staff that the company was following its contingency plan, and that it expected its Green Team of replacement drivers to be on the job by July 29.
Replacement Drivers
On page five of its response to the commission’s data request, Waste Management provided the following explanation for the company’s delay in deploying replacement drivers:

The entire Green Team was activated once the strike officially began on Wednesday, July 25th. Due to obvious logistical issues, Green Team members arrived in waves over the course of the strike ... While Green Team members began arriving on Thursday, there are several reasons for the gap between the arrival day and the actual deployment day. First, for safety concerns, WMW does not operate in a strike situation until full security measures are in place. Here, security was not in place until Friday, July 27th. Second, replacement drivers must be fully processed to ensure compliance with federal, state, and local laws and regulations before dispatched to work, whether they be Green Team members or local resources.

During the workshop held at the commission’s open meeting on Oct. 25, 2012, however, Tim Crosby, Waste Management’s Labor Relations Manager, stated on the record that “we did not pull the trigger on our replacement drivers soon enough. We should have done it earlier, but we thought with only a couple of days we’d try and save those costs.”[footnoteRef:8] Mr. Crosby’s statement directly contradicts the reasons for the delay that the company set forth in its formal response to the commission. [8:  October 25, 2012, open meeting digital recording at 50:18.] 


Between July 16 and 20 and prior to the strike, the company deployed an average of 358 drivers each day to collect recyclables and solid waste. The table below, which is based on the company’s response to staff’s data request, demonstrates that, during the strike, the company did not deploy more than 84 drivers (23 percent of its typical workforce) until the last day of the strike. 

Deployment of Replacement Drivers by Day

	Date
	Day
	Number of Drivers Deployed

	July 26
	Thursday
	0

	July 27
	Friday
	9

	July 28
	Saturday
	24

	July 29
	Sunday
	0

	July 30
	Monday
	79

	July 31
	Tuesday
	84

	Aug. 1
	Wednesday
	166

	Aug. 2
	Thursday
	Regular drivers return




The company reported in its response that, for strike planning purposes, the company typically anticipates activating over 400 Green Team members; yet seven days elapsed before it was able to deploy 166 drivers, less than half that number. The company’s performance does not match its contingency plan, nor the assurances provided to staff when the strike began.
RCW 81.28.010 requires carriers to provide and maintain equipment and facilities sufficient to “enable it to promptly, expeditiously, safely, and properly receive, transport, and deliver all persons or property offered to or received by it for transportation.” In addition to providing and maintaining equipment and facilities, carriers are required by RCW 81.28.020 to provide service in the manner prescribed by .010 “under reasonable rules and regulations.” Waste Management’s substandard performance during the strike—absent a tariff provision temporarily relieving it of its statutory duties—violated both provisions.
Allocation of Drivers between City-Contract and Commission Customers
Waste Management serves approximately 130,000 residential customers and 5,000 commercial customers in commission-regulated areas of King and Snohomish counties. The company serves approximately the same number of residential customers, and 14,000 commercial customers, in city-contract areas of King and Snohomish counties. The company’s service total for commission-regulated areas of King and Snohomish counties is 333,793; for city-contract areas, it is 405,604. [footnoteRef:9]  [9:  The service total represents the number of customers multiplied by the number of services each of those customers receives.] 


The commission regulates 45 percent of the total 739,397 services provided in King and Snohomish counties. A review of driver records during the commission’s safety inspection revealed that of the 228 total Green Team drivers deployed during the strike, only 21— or 9 percent— were deployed to commission-regulated areas. The statistics demonstrate that the majority of missed pickups during the strike occurred in commission-regulated areas of King and Snohomish Counties. 

Waste Management’s strike contingency plan did not address the company’s intent to focus its service restoration efforts on contract-city service areas to the detriment of its customers in commission-regulated areas; yet, that is what the company did.
RCW 81.28.190 provides that carriers “shall not make or give any undue or unreasonable preference or advantage to any person, corporation, locality, or particular description of traffic in any respect whatsoever, or subject any particular person, corporation, locality, or particular description of traffic, to any undue or unreasonable prejudice or disadvantage in any respect whatsoever.” Staff believes that Waste Management violated RCW 81.28.190 each day of the strike—a total of nine times—by disproportionately allocating its replacement drivers to city-contract areas to the detriment of its customers residing in commission-regulated service areas. 
Findings
Staff finds the data provided demonstrates that, despite assurances to the contrary, Waste Management failed to adequately prepare for, or manage, the strike. Although the commission may not hold the company accountable for the strike itself, it can—and must— hold the company accountable for its unreasonable management of it. Accordingly, staff finds nine violations each of RCW 8.28.010, .020, and .190, one for each day of the strike, for a total of 27 violations.
Missed Pickups—Data Request

As discussed above, Waste Management failed, and later refused, to provide customer-specific data regarding missed pickups during and following the strike. Instead, the company provided charts reflecting the number of scheduled and actual routes, the number of accounts per route, the average tonnage for each route, and the actual tonnage collected for each day from the day the strike began until normal service resumed. 

For days when no collection occurred, determining the number of violations was straightforward. 
The table below displays missed pickups by day where exact numbers were available because no scheduled pickups occurred:

Missed Service Pickups by Date

	Date 
	Missed Pickups

	July 26
	45,689

	July 27
	43,242

	July 28
	15

	July 30
	44,515

	July 31   
	50,001

	Aug. 1
	25,105

	TOTAL
	208,567



In the absence of adequate information, staff was required to develop an alternate method for calculating violations on days when partial collections occurred. For calculating missed pickups on partial collection days, staff used the following algorithm: 

· Actual tonnage was calculated as a percentage of average tonnage for each route. If actual tonnage equaled 20 percent of the average tonnage on a given route, staff assumed only 20 percent of customers on that route were served, and 80 percent were not. 
· The number of scheduled accounts was then multiplied by the percentage difference between the average and actual tonnage (in the above example, 80 percent). For a route with 20,000 accounts, for example, 15,000 violations (representing 80 percent of the scheduled accounts) were cited.

The table below displays estimated missed pickups by day where exact numbers were not available:

Estimated Missed Service Pickups by Date

	Date 
	Estimated Missed Pickups

	July 25
	25,435

	July 27  
	627

	July 30
	273

	July 31
	86

	Aug. 1  
	24,607

	Aug. 2
	18,627

	TOTAL
	69,655



Findings
Based on the limited information provided, staff finds that Waste Management violated RCW 81.28.080 and its own tariff 208,567 times between July 25 and Aug. 2, 2012, and estimates that at least 69,655 additional violations occurred.

Missed Pickups- Consumer Complaints 

Between Aug. 3 and Oct. 17, 2012, staff received 136 complaints from Waste Management customers who missed service due to the strike. Staff recorded 323 violations of WAC 480-70-236 for 323 missed pickups.[footnoteRef:10] Additionally, staff recorded seven violations of WAC 480-70-386(b)(i) for a late response to consumer complaint 115667.[footnoteRef:11] 

Findings
Staff finds that Waste Management violated RCW 81.28.080 and WAC 480-70-236 a total of 323 times in the 136 consumer complaints filed with the commission. Additionally, staff finds that Waste Management violated WAC 480-70-386(b)(i) seven times. [10:  A spreadsheet detailing the missed pickups and violation count for each consumer complaints is attached as Appendix F.]  [11:  A copy of master complaint 114699 is attached as Appendix G.] 


Safety Investigation

WAC 480-70-201 requires solid waste collection companies to comply with both state and local laws related to vehicle and driver safety and Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR). WAC 480-70-999 adopts by reference certain provisions of the CFR, including Part 391 – Qualification of Drivers, and Part 396 – Inspection, Repair and Maintenance. 
On Sept. 6, 2012, commission Motor Carrier Safety Inspector John Foster met with Alan York, Area Safety Manager, at Waste Management’s corporate office in Kirkland. Additional Waste Management staff were present, including Tom Cieloha (Safety Trainer), Scott Sadler (Vancouver B.C. Safety Manager), Rebecca Zorich (Operations Specialist), Sherry Andrews (Dispatch Supervisor), and Faustina Washburn (Fleet Compliance Manager).
Staff reviewed the driver qualification files, hours of service records, and Department of Transportation drug and alcohol testing records for the 228 Green Team drivers used during the strike, all of whom were Waste Management employees from Arizona, California, Colorado, Indiana, Kansas, New Mexico, Oregon, Virginia, Washington, and West Virginia. 
Staff found that each of the 21 drivers deployed to commission-regulated areas complied with commercial driver’s license requirements. Staff found no violations related to daily driver hours of service records. 
Staff found the following violations of 18 CFR:
· For one driver, Waste Management failed to prepare a driver vehicle inspection report, which violated CFR Part 396.11. 
· For one driver, Waste Management failed to ensure that the online employment application completed by the employee met federal requirements, which violated CFR Part 391.21. 
· For eight drivers, Waste Management failed to obtain copies of driving records within 30 days of hire, which violated CFR Part 391.23(b). 
· For two drivers, Waste Management failed to maintain copies of motor vehicle records for the preceding 12 months, which violated CFR Part 391.25(c)(1). 
· For three drivers, Waste Management failed to maintain annual driving record reviews, which violated CFR Part 391.25(c)(2). 
· For three drivers, Waste Management failed to maintain annual certifications of violations of motor vehicle traffic laws and ordinances, which violated CFR Part 391.27. 

Findings
Staff found 18 violations during the safety review, none of which were categorized as “critical” or “acute.” None of the 17 paperwork violations found were repeat violations; the commission generally does not assess penalties for first time paperwork violations.  
Of the 126 files reviewed, staff found only one safety-related violation of CFR Part 396.11 where one driver failed to prepare a daily vehicle inspection report for one day. According to federal criteria, penalties for this violation would only be appropriate if more than one violation was found, and more than ten percent of the records reviewed contained violations. None of the violations affect the company’s safety rating. 
For these reasons, staff recommends that Waste Management carefully review the violations cited above, which constitute technical assistance. Future violations will result in additional enforcement action, including penalties.  


SANCTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Penalty for Missed Pickups
In its investigation, staff documented 208,567 violations of RCW 81.28.080 and the company’s own tariff resulting from missed pickups during the strike that occurred between July 25 and Aug. 2, 2012. In addition, staff estimates that the company committed at least 69,566 additional violations that remain unsubstantiated because the company claims it does not track whether individual customers receive service.
[bookmark: _GoBack]Staff typically recommends a “per violation” penalty against a regulated company where the violations result in serious customer harm; for repeat violations of a rule after a company receives technical assistance from staff; or for intentional violations of commission laws or rules. The commission has the authority to assess penalties of $100 per violation, per day against a regulated company without providing the opportunity for a hearing.[footnoteRef:12] The commission also has the authority to assess penalties of up to $1,000 per violation, per day following a formal complaint and hearing.[footnoteRef:13] [12:  RCW 81.04.405 allows the commission to assess an administrative penalty for any violation by a regulated company of a statute, rule, the company’s own tariff or an order of the commission.]  [13:  RCW 81.04.380 allows the commission to assess a penalty of up to $1,000 for each violation after hearing.] 

Here, staff believes a “per violation” penalty is warranted for each of the 208,567 missed pickups confirmed by the data Waste Management provided. Given the large number of violations, however, staff believes that a penalty of $10 per violation is appropriate. 
Staff also believes that Waste Management’s actions— and inactions— increased the impact of the strike on its customers. Accordingly, staff believes the following factors weigh against mitigation of the recommended penalties:
1. Waste Management mismanaged its response to the strike, and failed to carry out the most minimal actions identified in its labor dispute contingency plan. For example, the company did not deploy even 25 percent of its regular driver workforce until Aug. 1, the sixth day of the strike.
2. The company allocated a disproportionate share of its replacement drivers to restore service in contract cities to the detriment of its customers in commission-regulated areas.
3. The commission notified the company following its 2010 strike that it could no longer rely on the inclement weather provision of its tariff during labor disputes, but Waste Management took no action to address this issue until June 2012. 
4. The company refused to provide customer specific data to demonstrate which customers received service during the strike, even though staff reasonably believes it has access to such data.



Recommendation
Staff recommends the commission issue a formal complaint and assess a total penalty of up to $2,146,600, for the following violations:

· Up to $1,000 for each of the 30 violations of RCW 81.04.380, related to the company’s incomplete response to the commission’s data request, for a total potential penalty of $30,000.
· Up to $1,000 for each of the nine violations of RCW 81.28.010, related to the company’s failure to maintain facilities and equipment during the strike sufficient to provide service as required, for a total potential penalty of $9,000.
· Up to $1,000 for each of the nine violations of RCW 81.28.020, related to the company’s failure to provide sufficient service during the strike, for a total potential penalty of $9,000.
· Up to $1,000 for each of the nine violations of RCW 81.28.190, related to the unreasonable preference given to city-contract service areas during the strike, for a total potential penalty of $9,000.
· $10 for each of the 208,567 violations of RCW 81.28.080, related to missed pickups found in connection with staff’s data request, for a total penalty of $2,085,670.
· $10 for each of the 323 violations of RCW 81.28.080, related to missed pickups found in connection with consumer complaints, for a total penalty of $3,230.
· $100 for each of the seven violations of WAC 480-70-386(b)(i), related to the company’s late response to consumer complaint 115667, for a total penalty of $700.

Staff also recommends that Waste Management closely review the safety violations cited in this report, which constitute technical assistance. Future violations will result in additional enforcement action, including penalties. 
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